# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PRENTISS E. SELLERS

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01459

NANCY BRIDGES SELLERS

APPELLEE

# BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF NESHOBA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NUMBER 2005-0332

Counsel for the Appellant:

HENRY PALMER Lawyers, PLLC Post Office Box 1205 Meridian, Mississippi 39302-1205 Telephone: (601) 693-8204

Facsimile: (601) 485-3339

MSB#

MARVIN E. WIGGINS, JR. Attorney at Law Post Office Box 696 DeKalb, Mississippi 39328 Telephone: (601) 743-5574 Facsimile: (601) 743-5575

MSB#

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PRENTISS E. SELLERS

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01459

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Appellant herein, Prentiss E. Sellers, hereby designates his issues to be considered by this Court. These issues are stated hereinbelow.

ISSUE I: WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN AWARDING TO THE APPELLEE "LUMP SUM REHABILITATIVE ALIMONY" AFTER THE DIVISION OF MARITAL ASSETS OF THE PARTIES.

ISSUE II: WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN THE DIVISION OF MARITAL ASSETS.

ISSUE III: WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN THE DIVISION OF MARITAL ASSETS IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE AWARD TO THE APPELLEE OF "LUMP SUM REHABILITATIVE ALIMONY.

ISSUE IV: WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN THE DETERMINATION OF CHILD SUPPORT TO BE PAID BY THE PARTIES.

For convenience and economy of time in considering the said issues, the Appellant shall address Issues I, II, and III together, as the authorities and factors relative to those issues are similar. The Appellant shall address Issue IV separately.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arose as a domestic proceeding in the Chancery Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi, in Cause Number 2005-0332 thereof. The said cause was assigned to Hon. J. Max Kilpatrick, Chancellor, Sixth Chancery Court District. The action was filed by Nancy Bridges Sellers [hereinafter cited as "Nancy", "Mrs. Sellers", "wife", and/or "the Appellee"] against her husband, Prentiss Edward Sellers [hereinafter cited as "Eddie", "Mr. Sellers", "husband", and/or "the Appellant"].

On October 18, 2005, Nancy filed in the above cause her Complaint for Divorce and/or Separate Maintenance and her Motion for Temporary Relief. (CP1-6; 7-10) In her Complaint, she alleged that the parties had married on November 22, 1986, in Neshoba County, Mississippi, and had finally separated in early 2003, albeit they still resided in the same house. (CP1) She alleged further that the parties had two (2) minor children, namely, Prentiss Austin Sellers [hereinafter cited as "Austin"], whose date of birth is October 27, 1989, and Isaac Lucas Sellers [hereinafter cited as "Isaac", whose date of birth is March 15, 1998. (CP2)

As grounds for divorce, Nancy alleged that her husband Eddie was guilty of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment toward her and that he was guilty of constructive desertion. (CP3) She alleged alternatively that irreconcilable differences had arisen between the parties. (CP3) As a result thereof, she sought a divorce and/or separate maintenance from Mr. Sellers. (CP3)

In addition thereto, Mrs. Sellers requested periodic, lumpsum, and rehabilitative alimony, custody of the two children, support for the two children, visitation to be awarded to their father, health insurance coverage for the children from her husband and payment from him for uncovered amounts, and the award of various assets of the parties. (CP3-4) Nancy further asked for the assessment to her husband of debts, taxes, and insurance on the marital residence, 1999 Dodge Caravan, and other marital debts. (CP4-5) She concluded by requesting the equitable division of the marital assets, a life insurance policy on her husband's life in the amount of \$250,000.00 payable to her, an injunction from harassment from her husband, suit fees, attorney's fees, and general relief. (CP5) In her Motion for Temporary Relief, Nancy essentially replicated her request for relief in her Complaint, but on a temporary basis pending the trial of the cause. (CP7-10) The said motion was set for hearing on November 17, 2005. (CP13)

On October 26, 2005, Eddie Sellers filed an Answer to Complaint for Divorce. (CP11-12) In essence, Mr. Sellers denied the salient accusations and requests made by his wife. (CP11-12) Also on that date, Eddie filed a motion to continue the hearing o the motion for temporary relief, stating a conflict in counsel's schedule. (CP13-14)

Also on that date, Eddie filed his Counter-motion for Temporary Relief, in which he generally requested the temporary custody of the children, the temporary exclusive use and possession of the marital assets, temporary alimony, temporary

child support, injunctions against his wife to prohibit her harassment of him and her dissipation of assets, and similar related relief. (CP15-17)

A Counterclaim for Divorce, Custody, and Related Relief was filed by Eddie Sellers on October 31, 2005. (CP27-32) In his pleading, Eddie alleged that Nancy was guilty of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment of him and of uncondoned adultery. (CP29) He further alleged constructive desertion and irreconcilable differences. (CP29). For relief, he sought a divorce, child custody, child support, health insurance, school expenses, the marital residence, the karate school, certain vehicles, a board, four-wheeler, motorcycle, periodic, lump-sum, and rehabilitative alimony, the equitable division of marital assets, the assessment of marital debts to Mrs. Sellers, an injunction against harassment by Mrs. Sellers, suit fees, attorney's fees, and other general relief. (CP30-31)

The parties met in court for a hearing on the respective motions for temporary relief on February 21, 2006. (CP38) The parties announced to the Court a resolution of the issues on a temporary basis pending the outcome of this case, with said agreement having been dictated into the record and transcribed as an Order of the Court. (CP38-45) By the terms thereof, the custody of the older son of the parties, Prentiss Austin Sellers, was be placed in Mr. Sellers, while the custody of the younger son of the parties, Isaac Lucas Sellers, was placed in Mrs. Sellers. (CP41) Mr. Sellers was to pay to Mrs. Sellers support

for Isaac in the amount of \$350.00 per month during the pendency of the case, and Mr. Sellers was to have the temporary use and possession of the marital residence. (CP41)

Further, the parties agreed to present to the Court their consent for divorce on the ground of irreconcilable differences, stipulating certain issues for consideration by the Court. (CP41-42) The said Consent for Divorce was eventually filed on June 8, 2006. (CP83-89) The parties stipulated as to the date of their marriage, the dates of birth of the two minor children, and to basis jurisdictional matters. (CP83-84) The said Consent set forth twelve (12) areas of agreement between the parties, leaving for determination by the Court another twelve (12) matters. (CP84-89) The parties also agreed to the entry of a divorce on irreconcilable differences, the sole ground of with adversarial grounds to be dismissed with prejudice. (CP84)

The parties agreed that Eddie would maintain health insurance coverage on the two children, with the parties to divide equally any amounts not so covered. (CP85) Nancy would get the 1999 Dodge Caravan, while Eddie would get the 2001 Ford Ranger, two (2) Ford Broncos, two (2) motorcycles, tractor, fourwheeler, riding lawnmower, boat, and trailer. (CP85) Eddie would also get the exclusive use and possession of certain rental property and farmland conveyed to him and his sister by their mother. (CP85) The furniture of the children would belong to the children. (CP85) The various guns would belong to Eddie, while the remaining furnishings and appliances would be divided between

the parties by means of the making of two lists of items by Eddie and the first selection therefrom by Nancy. (CP86)

As to the values of the farm land, rental house, marital residence, and karate school, the parties agreed to the appraisal thereof and the determination by the Court of the value thereof for purposes of effecting the equitable division of assets and liabilities. (CP86). Other issues to be determined by the Court was the custody and support of the children, the exclusive use of the marital home and karate school, the determination of marital assets and liabilities and the equitable division thereof, and the ownership of the camper on the farm land. (CP87) The Court was also requested to ascertain whether Eddie should maintain health insurance for Nancy, whether either party should be liable to the other for alimony, court costs, and attorney's fees, and which party should claim the children as dependents for tax purposes. (CP87) Lastly, the Court was to determine whether Eddie had been in contempt of court for preventing the appraisal of the property owned by Eddie and his sister. (CP88)

By Order entered by the Court on June 13, 2006, the parties were to complete discovery, to cooperate in making appraisals, and to conclude the preliminary matters prior to trial. (CP90-92) The trial was also set for August 7, 8, 10, and 11, 2006, in the Neshoba County Courthouse, in Philadelphia, Mississippi. (CP91)

Following a four-day trial, in which the Court considered twenty-seven (27) exhibits and fifteen (15) witnesses, the Court took the matter under advisement. (T742) However, both parties

moved to reopen the case, (CP176-180; 181-183) and the Court heard the motions on October 17, 2006. (T743-831) Additional proceedings were held on December 19, 2006, pursuant to Order entered December 1, 2006. (CP188)

On May 21, 2007, the Court entered its Opinion, in conformity with the Consent for Divorce, granting the divorce on grounds of irreconcilable differences, awarding custody of Isaac to Nancy and of Austin to Eddie, and directing Eddie to pay \$490.00 per month as child support and eighteen (18) installments of \$700.00 each as spousal support to Nancy. (CP189-225; RE5-41) The Court divided the marital assets and liabilities, leaving Eddie with all the debt and leaving each party with equal equity of \$142,990.00. (CP212-214; RE28-30) Eddie's share of the marital residence and his karate school was transferred to Nancy as part of the spousal support ordered by the Court as "lump sum rehabilitative alimony". (CP222-223; RE39-40) Nancy was denied her requests for attorney's fees and for Eddie to be held in contempt of court. (CP224; RE40)

A Judgment conforming to the Opinion was entered by this Court on June 15, 2007. (CP226-236; RE42-52) Eddie filed a motion for reconsideration or a new trial, (CP277-278) and Nancy filed another contempt proceeding. (CP279-283) In its hearing of the matters on July 6, 2007, the Court resolved the contempt issues and denied the motion to reconsider and for new trial, entering its Order on July 24, 2007. (CP284; T846-848; RE53; 54-56) Eddie filed a timely notice of appeal on August 20, 2007. (CP289-290)

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court performed yeoman's work in shepherding this cause from initiation to conclusion. Several hearing dates, disputes over discovery, accusations of infidelity and unfitness, and, ultimately, allegations by the Court of possible perjury directed toward the parties were but several of the features of this action.

However, the Appellant, Eddie Sellers, would state unto this Court that the trial court committed manifest error in making its rulings on child support, property division, and the award of "lump sum rehabilitative alimony". Despite the efforts of the lower court to devise an equitable solution, those efforts instead wrought an inequitable situation for Eddie.

Under the usual "manifest error" standard of review, the appeals court will affirm the holding of the trial judge, unless the incorrect legal standard has been applied or there is no substantial evidence to support the holding. In the instant case, this has occurred, in part having a domino-like effect on the various awards by the trial court.

The marital assets of the parties were divided by the trial judge in a detailed manner, remarkably leaving both parties with exactly equal shares. Nothing else was left to be done, as this division conformed to the Chancellor's announced intention to divide the assets equally.

Where there is something left to be done, it is generally done via lump sum alimony. A cash disbursement from the party

having an excess of asset value to the party having a deficit is the means by which the balancing of equities may be accomplished.

In the instant proceeding, the lower court determined to award "lump sum rehabilitative alimony" to cure a supposed deficit post-asset division. The court held, without any specific finding, that Nancy was entitled to an additional \$62,600.00 from Eddie. Of this amount, \$50,000.00 in already-divided marital assets was shifted from Eddie to Nancy, in the form of his equitable distribution of the marital residence and karate school. In addition, the lower court calculated a disposable adjustable gross income for Eddie by discounting wholesale his financial information and replacing that data with numbers of the court's own making and not supported by any substantial evidence.

The amount of this award was not based upon substantial evidence; no explanation for this amount was cited. Further, the relevant factors for neither lump sum alimony nor rehabilitative alimony were addressed. Thus, the correct legal standard was not followed by the lower court.

The award of lump sum rehabilitative alimony was not proper. Further, it impaired the division of marital assets and destroyed the equitable distribution crafted by the lower court. By so doing, the division itself was rendered improper by the use of means not necessary to achieve the desired effect—equity.

Finally, the lower court committed manifest error in its holding that Eddie should pay to Nancy for Isaac \$490.00 per month in child support, while she pays nothing. The court, as

noted above, revised the financial figures offered by Eddie, while not considering Nancy's minimum of three (3) part-time jobs during the pendency of the trial below. Further, the lower court gave some credit for insurance payments, gave no credit to Eddie for also supporting Austin, and offered no specific finding for not following the proper procedures.

In light of the foregoing, this Court should reverse the decision below and should remand the cause for further proceedings below.

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Notwithstanding wrangling up to the week prior to trial, the parties met for trial on August 7, 2006. (T1) The parties presented to the Court ten (10) general exhibits, including the aforementioned Consent for Divorce, (T12; Ex. GE1), the respective financial reports required of the parties by Rule 8.05, Uniform Rules of Chancery Court Practice, (T12; Ex. GE2, GE3) deeds to the real property to be considered by the Court, (T12; GE4, GE5, GE6, GE7), and appraisals of the marital residence and karate school (T12; GE8), the rental house (T12; GE9), and the farm land (T12; GE10).

Seventeen (17) other exhibits were offered during the trial. (T25; 27; 59; 62; 201; 204; 236; 246; 284; 321; 323; 443; 450; 480; 658; 659; 662; Ex. 11-27) Pertinent to this appeal were exhibits concerning Eddie's bank accounts and checks, (T59, 62; Ex. 13, 14), the title to the camper on the farm land, (T246; Ex. 18), photographs of the real property at issue, (T284; 658; 659; Ex. 19, 25, 26), and the statement regarding Nancy's finances made by Forrest Bridges, her father. (T443; Ex. 22)

Each party testified during the trial. Eddie was called adversely by Nancy (T12-100), and he was called to testify as part of his case. (T626-738) Nancy also testified during her case in chief. (T192-442) Nancy testified in detail as to the marital assets of the parties (T326-331; 347-416) and her then-current work situation (T322-326; 422-424). Nancy called her father, Forrest Bridges, (T442-478) who provided information regarding

Nancy's breast-implant settlement and trust funds. (T442-445; Ex. 22) Others testifying for Nancy included her sister, Cindy Deaton (T136-192), her brother-in-law, Phil Deaton (T100-123), a fellow home-school friend, Tiffany Quick (T123-135), and her counsel as to her legal fees of more than \$11,000.00. (T478-482) Counsel also provided an itemization of his charges. (T480; Ex. 24)

At the close of Nancy's case, Eddie moved to dismiss the contempt of court motion based upon his alleged prevention of appraisals of the rental property and farm land. (T483-486) The Court sustained the motion. (T486-488)

In his case in chief, Eddie called the parties' older son, Austin Sellers. (T488-545) Eddie also called his mother, Roma Sellers, who testified concerning the farm land and rental property conveyed by her to Eddie and his sister. (T545-556) He also called April Reynolds and Michael Reynolds, (T559-580; 617-625), who were friends of Nancy. They testified concerning Nancy's involvement with another man, Lee Salers. (T561-564, 576; 623-625) April specifically stated that Nancy had admitted a sexual relationship with the man. (T561-564; 576)

Linda Green and Ava Nell Coleman described parenting skills of Eddie in the context of the family's attendance at New Vision Church. (T580-588; 589-594). Kasey Sellers, Eddie's daughter-in-law, discussed the relationship between Nancy and Austin and the lack of contact between Nancy and the rental house in Philadelphia, in which Kasey lived with her husband, Andy Sellers. (T556-559) Andy Sellers, Eddie's son from a prior

marriage, also testified concerning the relative parenting skills of Nancy and Eddie, the relationships between Eddie, Nancy, and the children, and Eddie and Nancy, and the lack of contact between Nancy and the said rental property. (T594-617)

Eddie was the final witness during his case in chief. Eddie had been questioned earlier regarding his parenting skills, and also provided details regarding his finances relative to the karate school operated by him in a building on the same parcel as the martial residence (T49-62) and his retirement fund. (T78-80) On direct examination, he made detailed explanations regarding the marital assets and liabilities. (T695-707) He also discussed the other issues before the Court. (T626-738)

After the close of the case (T739-742), counsel submitted to the Court proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, with rebuttals thereto, (CP119-132; 133-151; 152-163; 164-175) the last of which having been filed on October 3, 2006. Prior to the ruling of the Court, Eddie filed a motion to reopen the case on October 9, 2006. (CP176-180) Nancy countered with her own motion to reopen, filed on October 17, 2006. (CP181-183)

In his motion, Eddie alleged that Nancy had moved near Collinsville and was living with another man and that her father, who was to be living near the marital residence, had moved. (CP176) In her motion, Nancy alleged that Austin, while in Eddie's custody and control, had committed several serious acts of delinquency. (CP181) At the October 17, 2006, hearing, a quardian ad litem was appointed for Austin. (CP185)

Counsel for the parties announced to the Court that they had resolved the custody issue, with Eddie to have custody of Austin and Nancy to have custody of Isaac, with a review thereof in six (6) months. (T746-747) However, the Court rejected the agreement, over concerns that both parties had misrepresented material matters to the Court. (T748-750) The Court then heard testimony regarding the allegations contained in the motions and concerning Austin's absences from school and illnesses, and the Court received exhibits related to Isaac and Austin's schooling and a website ad allegedly placed by Eddie. (T756-831) The Court reset the matter for another motion day for the delivery by counsel of medical records and school records of the children and of material regarding the website. (CP186-187)

The Court, by Order entered December 1, 2006, set December 19, 2006, as the date for the matters to be presented. (CP188) No record thereof was apparently made. However, the Court noted in its Opinion that the parties and counsel met in court on December 19, 2006, stipulated that Eddie would have custody of Austin, that Nancy would have custody of Isaac, and that they agreed to modify the Consent for Divorce to allow the Court to determine child support and tax deductions for each child. (CP194; RE10)

The Court issued its thirty-seven (37) page Opinion on May 21, 2007. (CP189-225; RE5-41) In his ruling, the Chancellor cited the matters to which the parties had agreed and those to be considered by consent. (CP189-193; RE5-9) A Judgment conforming to the Opinion was entered June 15, 2007. ((CP226-236; RE42-52)

The Court discounted the financial information provided by Eddie via his Rule 8.05 form and his income tax return. (CP194; 215-217; RE10; 31-33) The Court determined that the monthly adjusted gross income of Mr. Sellers was \$3,500.00, subject to the statutory guidelines for child support at the rate of fourteen percent (14%), or \$490.00 per month. (CP194; RE10)

After determining the marital assets, (CP197-201; RE13-17), the Court then divided the assets equally, (CP210; RE26) assigning assets to the respective parties. (CP210-213; RE26-29) The Court set forth its conclusion that the total marital assets were valued at \$304,230.00 and that the total marital liabilities were assessed at \$18,250.00, for a net equity of \$285,980.00. (CP213-214; RE29-30) The Court divided the net sum equally, leaving each party with \$142,990.00, with Eddie having been assessed the entire marital debt. (CP213-214; RE29-30)

Among the assets divided were the marital residence and the karate school building, all of which are located upon the same tract of land. The Court valued the tract and buildings at \$100,000.00, assigning \$50,000.00 to each party. (CP210; RE26)

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