## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### PRENTISS E. SELLERS

### APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01459

NANCY BRIDGES SELLERS

APPELLEE

## BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

Appeal From the Chancery Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi Cause No. 2005-0332

COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLEE:

WILLIAM B. JACOB JOSEPH A. KIERONSKI, JR. DANIEL P. SELF, JR. SELF, JACOB & KIERONSKI, LLP Attorneys & Counsellors at Law Post Office Box 949 Meridian, Mississippi 39302-0949 Telephone: 601/693-6994 Facsimile No. 601/483-4935 MISSISSIPPI STATE BAR NOS.

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Sellers argues that lump sum rehabilitative alimony should not have been awarded after a division of marital assets in this cause. It is uncontested that at the time of trial Mr. Sellers was gainfully employed and his wife, Nancy Sellers, was unemployed. She had been a stay at home mom for almost twenty (20) years. She cared for the two (2) minor children of the parties, along with her step-son, Eddie's child by a prior marriage.

Nancy had previously been employed as a dental hygienist. However, due to the requirements Eddie placed upon her to care for the minor children, especially one who suffered from Tourette's Syndrome, Nancy's dental hygienist certificate had lapsed.

The Chancellor went through a lengthy Ferguson analysis in dividing the marital assets and arriving upon an equitable distribution thereof. There was approximately a fifty-three percent (53%) to forty-seven percent (47%) advantage that Eddie enjoyed as a result of this equitable distribution.

Since Nancy was unemployed and Eddie was not providing support to her, Nancy was forced to live on credit cards. Additionally, medical expenses, especially Isaac, had been incurred. Since Eddie was the only party employed, the Chancellor assigned the outstanding marital debt to Eddie. Considering the debt, there was an equal division of marital assets.

The Trial Court further went through an analysis of non-marital property. The Trial Court determined that Eddie enjoyed approximately \$138,000.00 in separate estate and Nancy had just under \$14,000.00 in separate estate. Combining the equity in the marital assets with the respective separate estates, Eddie enjoyed a sixty-four percent (64%) to thirty-six percent (36%) advantage in assets.

i

Recognizing, that there was substantial shortfall in income and that Nancy was going to be

re-entering the workforce, the Trial Court determined that for a seventeen (17) month time, ending December 2008, Nancy would need some financial assistance from Eddie. This was especially true since she had custody of one of the minor children of the parties. As such, the Trial Court determined that Nancy should receive \$62,600.00 in lump sum rehabilitative alimony. The Trial Court then offset this award by \$50,000.00 representing Eddie's one-half ( $\frac{1}{2}$ ) interest in the former marital home leaving the sum of \$12,600.00 to be paid in cash for the support of Nancy and the minor child to which she had custody.

This award was not only equitable, but considered the station and needs of both parties. Contrary to Eddie's assertion, this was in the form of support for Nancy and not as an equalizer. As such, the Chancellor was eminently correct in so awarding.

Eddie next complains about the division of marital assets. Eddie was awarded fifty-three percent (53%) of those assets and Nancy only forty-seven percent (47%). However, since Eddie was the only party employed at the time of trial and Nancy had expended credit card resources in which to live since she was not being supported by Eddie as previously, the Trial Court, in its equitable division, required that Eddie assume the outstanding credit card and medical expense indebtedness. Some of these medical expenses were for the minor child, Isaac, who suffered from Tourette's Syndrome.

After allowing for the division of indebtedness, the Trial Court determined that there was an equal division of assets between the parties.

The Trial Court made this equitable division utilizing the Ferguson factors and went through a lengthy analysis of those factors. Thus, as a result of the above and foregoing, an equitable division of marital assets was obtained from the Chancellor and any complaint that Eddie has regarding same is without merit.

Eddie goes through a lengthy analysis of "the types of alimony that could be awarded". He concludes that there is no such thing as "lump sum rehabilitative alimony". However, at least two (2) cased from the Appellate Courts from the State of Mississippi have found otherwise.

Ironically, Eddie concedes in his Brief that "a tyrannical exercise in labeling" should not be utilized and the Appellate Court should look to substance rather than label..

That having been said, Eddie launches into this "tyrannical exercise in labeling".

Eddie further argues that the award of lump sum rehabilitative alimony is for the purpose of equalization of assets. However, the Trial Court, not once, but twice, specifically stated that the purpose of this alimony award was for the support of Nancy to enable her to get back into the workforce. This was needed especially in light of her having custody of one of the minor children of the parties who suffers from Tourette's Syndrome. Additionally, this support will end December 2008 based upon the Chancellor's ruling.

Thus, contrary to the generalizations used by Eddie and the erroneous arguments made by him, it is eminently clear that the Chancellor's decision was correct. Further, the decision is completely supported by the record. Finally, the Chancellor's decision contains no clear and unmistakable error. As a result of the above and foregoing, the ruling of the Chancery Court should be affirmed.

Eddie next complains about the amount of child support. He assets that the child support award was based on calculations and computations by the Trial Court. However, nothing could be further from the truth. Eddie complains that the Trial Judge "did not accept his word" for his income. Again, nothing could be further from the truth.

It is elemental that the Chancellor is not bound by an 8.05 financial statement of a party nor

that parties' testimony concerning it. However, in this case, the Trial Judge, for child support purposes, accepted Eddie's financial statement and his testimony.

Eddie's generalizations again gets him in trouble. He tries to mix income for child support purposes and income for alimony purposes. The Chancellor accepted Eddie's computation regarding child support even though the amount should have been greater. The Chancellor awarded child support in the sum of \$490.00 per month when, based on Eddie's true adjusted gross income the correct amount of child support should have been \$563.00 per month. Yet, Eddie still complains.

The Chancellor relied upon the appropriate legal authorities, child support guidelines, and upon the financial statement of Eddie in setting the amount of child support. This was done notwithstanding the fact that Eddie's financial statement as to income was incorrect and his financial statement as to his expenses were incorrect.

Therefore, the Chancellor did not abuse his discretion nor was his decision based on any clear or unmistakable error. As such, the decision of the Trial Court should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal deals with the divorce issues of Prentiss E. Sellers (hereinafter referred to as Eddie), and Nancy Bridges Sellers (hereinafter referred to as Nancy).

This cause was tried before the Chancery Court of Neshoba County, Mississippi pursuant to a Consent for Divorce wherein the parties had agreed to some of the issues, leaving the contested issues to be decided by the Court.

Of those contested issues two (2) of them are the subject of this appeal, namely, the alimony award and the amount of child support.

At the conclusion of the trial, the Chancellor awarded Nancy \$62,600.00 in lump sum rehabilitative alimony (CP 222, RE 38). The Trial Court also set the amount of child support to be paid by Eddie to Nancy at the sum of \$490.00 per month (CP 194, RE 10). From these two (2) awards, Eddie appeals the decision of the Trial Court.

The scope of review in domestic relations matters is limited by the familiar substantial evidence/manifest error rule. In Magee v. Magee, 661 So.2d, 1117 (Miss. 1995), the Court stated:

"This Court will not disturb the findings of a Chancellor unless the Chancellor was **manifestly wrong**, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." (Page 1122).

In Magee (supra), the Court went on to state:

"The amount of an alimony award is a matter to a great extent within the discretion of the Chancery Court because of its peculiar opportunity to sense the equities of the situation before it." (Page 1122).

In the case Brennan v. Brennan, 638 So.2d, 1320 (Miss. 1994), this Court held:

"We have recently defined 'manifest error' as error that is 'unmistakable, clear,

plain or indisputable'." (Page 1323).

As a result, this scope of review accords great deference to the Chancellor's opinions and findings and this deference remains unless and until there is **clear and indisputable evidence** presented that the Chancellor incorrectly exercised his discretion within the matter. This is a heavy burden to bear and is extremely difficult to accomplish.

# PROPOSITION I: THE CHANCELLOR CORRECTLY ADDRESSED THE ALIMONY ISSUES OF THE PARTIES

Eddie raised three (3) issues which are virtually synonymous contending that the award of lump sum rehabilitative alimony was improperly made. He addressed these first three (3) issues collectively. However, a collective analytical analysis of multiple issues subjects itself to the use of generalizations. This process of using generalizations will lead to faulty reasoning. This faulty reasoning of Eddie was made throughout his presentation of these three (3) issues. Therefore, Nancy will address these three (3) issues separately.

<u>ISSUE NUMBER 1</u> - The Awarding of Lump Sum Rehabilitative Alimony After the Division of Marital Assets of the Parties:

The parties agreed that certain issues were contested and were to be decided by the Trial Court. (CP 192-193, RE 8-9).

Contested Area Number 2 dealt with the former marital home; Number 3 dealt with the Karate school, Number 4 dealt with the determination of marital assets, Number 5 dealt with an equitable division of the marital assets and Number 9 dealt with alimony. These Contested Areas were referenced in Eddie's brief but the award of lump sum rehabilitative alimony was the major topic of argument and the area to which reversal is sought by Eddie.

The Chancellor had before him the marital assets of the parties. Likewise, the parties had, for

the most part, agreed on the fair market values of each of these assets. At the conclusion of the trial, the Chancellor made a by item division of these marital assets. (CP 210-213, RE 26-29). After a division was made by the Chancellor, the Trial Court determined that the parties had accumulated \$304,230.00 worth of assets and assigned \$161,210.00 to Eddie and \$142,990.00 to Nancy. Thus, Eddie received approximately fifty-three percent (53%) of the assets and Nancy only forty-seven percent (47%). (CP 213, RE 29).

The Trial Court further concluded that:

"Mr. Sellers has a substantial income which has been determined by the Court to be in excess of the amount listed on the 8.05 (Exhibit 3) for purposes of the child support calculation. Once the voluntary retirement plan is added back to his income, he has an adjusted gross income of approximately \$3,500.00." (CP 194, RE 10).

Eddie showed on his 8.05 Financial Statement (Exhibit No. 3) (Attached hereto as Appendix 1) that he had two (2) sources of income. He had salary from his job at the Choctaw Health Center of \$4,279.41 per month gross. He also showed income from the Karate School of \$200 per month. Thus, his gross income was in the sum of \$4,479.41 per month. (See also CP 215, RE 31). He also showed a federal tax refund of \$3,393 which averages to an additional \$283.75 per month. With this addition, Eddie's monthly gross income is \$4,762.16. On Exhibit No. 3, Eddie shows State, Federal and Social Security Taxes of \$738.96. Therefore, Eddie's Adjusted Gross Income is actually \$4,023.32.

The Trial Court additionally found that Mrs. Sellers had no appreciable income **at the time** of trial. (CP 195, RE 11). The Trial Court recognized that she had been a stay at home mom for many years taking care of the parties' two (2) children as well as a step-child from a prior relationship of Eddie. One of the children of the parties (namely Isaac), suffers from Tourette's Syndrome (CP 202, RE 18). Further, Nancy, who had been a dental hygienist, lost her certification as such in order to take care of the minor children of the parties hereto. (CP 203, RE 19). Thus, Nancy had been out of the workforce approximately eighteen (18) years during the marriage of the parties.

During the separation of the parties, Nancy had been required to utilize credit cards to maintain her standard of living for herself and her minor child, Isaac. (CP 219, RE 35). As a result of the above and foregoing, the Trial Court addressed certain outstanding expenses, medical bills and credit card debt of the parties, especially those used by Nancy for support since she had no income and Eddie was not supporting her. He assigned that debt to Eddie since he was the only employed party before him. (CP 213-214, RE 29-30). The aforesaid debt was subtracted from the total fair market value of the assets of the parties leaving a net equity of \$285,980.00. Further, after subtracting the aforesaid debt from Eddie's fair market value of the assets awarded, a total equity was awarded to Eddie in the sum of \$142,990.00 with a like amount awarded Nancy. (CP 214, RE 30). In determining this equitable division of the marital assets, the Trial Court specifically relied upon the case of Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d, 921 (Miss. 1994). (CP 201, RE 17). The Chancellor conducted a lengthy Ferguson analysis regarding equitable distribution. (CP 201-209, RE 17-25). That lengthy analysis led to the above referenced division of marital assets. It should be noted that the marital home being the first item of assets was equally divided between the parties. (CP 210, RE 26).

As required by <u>Ferguson</u> (supra), The Trial Court first made an equitable division of the assets of the parties. Additionally, the Trial Court went through an analysis previously dealing the respective separate estates (non-marital assets) of the parties. The Trial Court then concluded:

"The Court, after equitably dividing the assets and debts and taking into consideration

that Mr. Sellers has a SEPARATE ESTATE of approximately \$137,500.00 and Mrs. Sellers has a SEPARATE ESTATE of approximately \$13,620.00, CONCLUDES THAT THE NEEDS AND FINANCIAL SECURITY OF THE WIFE HAVE NOT BEEN FULLY MET." (CP 215, RE 31).

	EDDIE	NANCY	
GROSS MONTHLY INCOME	\$4,762.16	-0-	
EQUITY IN MARITAL ASSETS	\$142,990.00	\$142,990.00	
SEPARATE ESTATE	\$137,500.00	\$13,620.00	
TOTAL ASSETS	\$280,490.00	\$156,610.00	
PERCENTAGE	64%	36%	

At this time of the analysis, the respective positions of the parties consisted of the following:

Based upon the above and foregoing it is eminently clear that not only was the Chancellor correct in his conclusion, but also that conclusion was supported by the evidence before him as demonstrated by the above table. Eddie had almost twice the amount of available assets as did Nancy. Further, Nancy was having to re-integrate into the workforce and needed some financial assistance to do so.

Contested Area Number 9 states "Alimony. Whether or not if either party shall receive alimony from the other and, if so, what amount, in what form, and what duration." (CP 193, RE 9).

The Trial Court went through a lengthy analysis using the prior precedent of <u>Armstrong v.</u> <u>Armstrong</u>, 618 So.2d, 1278 (Miss. 1993) and <u>Cheatham v. Cheatham</u>, 537 So.2nd, 435 (Miss. 1988). (CP 215, RE 31). This analysis was contained within the Court's lengthy Opinion. (CP 215-223, RE 31-39).

Eddie first complains that the income figures relied upon by the Court regarding Eddie's

income was not accurate. He states:

"The lower Court did not rely upon the financial figures provided by Eddie on the stand or in his Rule 8.05 form and income tax return. The Court revised the numbers and crafted new figures, from which it then made the aforesaid awards." (Appellant's Brief Page 20).

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